THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No. 2012-212687
Lower Case No. 2010-CP-40-3297

RECEIVED

MAY 02 2013

SC Court of Appeals

YANCEY ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, LLC. Appellant,

vs.

RICHARDSON PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A. and
George Harold Hanlin, J.D. Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas A. Pendarvis (SC Bar # 64918)
Catherine B. Kerney (SC Bar # 81429)
PENDARVIS LAW OFFICES, P.C.
500 Carteret St., Suite A
Beaufort, South Carolina 29902
843.524.9500 tel
843.524.9501 fax
Thomas@PendarvisLaw.com

Lawyers for Appellant,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court erred when it granted Respondents' motion for a directed verdict on proximate cause grounds when there was evidence in the record from which the jury could conclude Respondents' acts and omissions proximately caused harm to Appellant.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in finding that testimony given by the corporation's Rule 30(b)(6) designee establishing a corporation's intent to perform on a contract to place a conservation easement on property owned or controlled by the corporation was insufficient evidence of the corporation's intent to perform because there was no direct testimony by a particular principal of the corporation.
- III. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that a corporate principal's testimony was necessary to establish whether the corporation intended to perform on a contract when the corporation was a party to the contract and owned or controlled the subject property.
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that testimony by an expert for Appellant that the corporation and its principal shareholder intended to perform on the contract was "not admissible to create an issue of fact for the jury" as to the corporate principal's intent when there was no objection to that testimony and when Respondents later included the same testimony in a cross examination question to the expert.
- V. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that evidence of the corporate principal's intent to perform was necessary to establish a causal link when there was evidence that the corporation was a party to the contract, partially performed on the contract, and

intended to perform.

- VI. Whether the trial court erred in excluding testimony and evidence showing three other landowners, all of whom had their own tax counsel, proceeded with closing on their conservation easements, when such evidence was offered to show the effect and proximate cause of Respondents' withdrawal as the only tax counsel for the subject conservation easement project.
- VII. Whether the trial court erred in granting Respondents' motion for directed verdict at the close of Respondents' case on the stated grounds that Appellant had not offered any evidence on proximate cause after previously denying a motion for summary judgment and denying a motion for directed verdict at the close of Appellant's case on the basis that there was evidence in the record on the proximate cause issue.
- VIII. Whether the trial court failed to apply the proper standard of review for its ruling pursuant to Rule 50, SCRPC and erred in granting Respondents' motion for a directed verdict.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 17, 2010, Appellant, YANCEY ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, LLC (YES) and Yancey A. McLeod, Jr. (Mr. McLeod) filed a Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Richland County, South Carolina, asserting professional negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, and breach of contract claims against RICHARDSON PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A. (Law Firm) and George Harold Hanlin, J.D (Mr. Hanlin) (collectively "Respondents"). On June 24, 2010, Respondents filed an Answer and a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint as to Yancey A. McLeod, Jr. On June 29, 2010, Appellant filed an Amended Complaint

withdrawing Mr. McLeod as a plaintiff and leaving YES as the only remaining plaintiff. (Amended Complaint, ROA ____). On July 19, 2010, Respondents filed an Answer to Amended Complaint and Affirmative Defenses. (Answer, ROA ____).

An extensive period of discovery ensued with an multiple sets of written discovery requests and responses exchanged, voluminous numbers of documents produced, and multiple depositions conducted in South Carolina, North Carolina, and a Rule 30(b)(6), SCRCF deposition taken in West Virginia of J. Terry Miller (Mr. Miller), the designee for JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS, LLC. On November 30, 2011, Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and later an Amended Motion for Summary Judgment. On February 15, 2012, the trial court issued an Order denying Defendants' Amended Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that there were disputed questions of material fact. (Order Denying Amended Motion for Summary Judgment, ROA ____).

The trial for this matter before a jury began on February 27, 2012 with The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith presiding. At trial, Appellant presented testimony from its expert witnesses, Gregory B. Adams, L.L.M., J.S.D. (Dr. Adams) and W. Curtis Elliott, J.D., and from Mr. McLeod, Sue Green from COMMUNITY OPEN LAND TRUST (COLT), Darroll Hawkins, Ph.D., and Mr. Miller, the Rule 30(b)(6), SCRCF designee for JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS, which was one of the parties to the contract at issue in the underlying transaction. Prior to the close of Appellant's case and to accommodate the witnesses travel schedule, Appellant agreed to allow Respondents to present testimony from David Harrah, CPA, who formerly worked with the JAMES C. JUSTICE COMPANIES, INC.

At the close of Appellant's case, Respondents moved for directed verdict per Rule 50, SCRCF, arguing that Appellant had not presented any evidence to establish the

causation element of the three claims. The trial court denied the motion on the grounds that there was evidence in the record on the proximate cause issue. (Trial transcript 867:12-867:19, ROA ____).

Respondents then presented testimony from Mr. Hanlin and their expert witness, Nathan M. Crystal, J.D. and read into the record deposition testimony from Cary H. Hall, J.D., a tax lawyer. At the close of their case, Respondents again moved for directed verdict per Rule 50, SCRPC. The trial court granted Respondents' motion for directed verdict and issued a Form 4 Order on March 7, 2012 that stated, "Directed Verdict granted to defendants." (Form 4 Order, ROA ____).

On April 15, 2012, less than thirty (30) days after the Form 4 Order was issued, Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal reserving its right to file an Amended Notice of Appeal once the formal Order was issued. (Notice of Appeal, ROA ____). On April 15, 2012, the trial court issued a written Order Granting Respondents' Motion for Directed Verdict. (Order Granting Respondents' Motion for Directed Verdict, ROA ____). On May 24, 2012, Appellant timely filed a Motion to Amend or Alter the Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Directed Verdict (Motion to Amend Order Granting Motion for Directed Verdict, ROA ____). On June 21, 2012, Respondents filed a Return to Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend. (Return, ROA ____).

On June 7, 2012, Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss the Appeal. On June 12, 2012, Appellant filed a Return to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and on June 18, 2012, Respondents filed a Reply to Plaintiff's Return to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss.

On June 26, 2012, this Court issued an Order granting additional time for the court reporter to prepare the trial transcript. On July 26, 2012, this Court issued an Order

granting Respondents Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that the Notice of Appeal was prematurely filed. On July 31, 2012, the Court issued an Order granting an extension to the court reporter to allow additional time to prepare the trial transcript. On August 8, 2012, Appellant filed a new Notice of Appeal, which the Court administratively dismissed pursuant to Rule 207 on November 21, 2012. Appellant filed an unopposed Motion to Reinstate on November 27, 2012 and the Court issued an Order granting Appellant's Petition to Reinstate on January 24, 2013.

ARGUMENTS

I. The Evidence in the Record Showing Respondents' Acts and Omissions Proximately Caused Harm to Appellant Made the Trial Court's Ruling Granting Respondents' Motion for Directed Verdict Reversible Error.

A. Facts Relevant to Argument I.¹

Mr. McLeod and James C. Justice, II (Mr. Justice) entered into an agreement in October 2007 whereby Mr. McLeod's company, YES, would coordinate the professional services by the lawyer, appraisers, and wildlife biologist, and locate a charitable grantee organization in order to record a conservation easement in the 2007 calendar year on the "Black River Farm" property in Clarendon County owned by Mr. Justice's companies, in exchange for a 4% commission based on an expected \$45,000,000 tax deduction once the easement was recorded. (Adams testimony, 134:20-135:5, ROA ___; 142:13-24, ROA ___; 145:3-12, ROA ___; 305:22-307:4, ROA ___; 322:7-13, ROA ___); (McLeod testimony, 470:18-472:7, ROA ___; 475:4-17, ROA ___; 482:6-483:17, ROA ___; 484:10-17, ROA ___; 489:10-13, ROA ___; 490:3-491:4, ROA ___; 622:8-15, ROA ___); (Miller

¹ Unless specifically noted, all of the facts and inferences from those facts are taken from the evidence admitted and testimony given during the trial of this case.

testimony, 7:18-9:18, ROA ____; 11:3-20, ROA ____; 16:19-17:10, ROA ____; 18:23-19:12, ROA ____; 19:13-23, ROA ____; 20:1-18, ROA ____; 23:20-24:7, ROA ____; 30:4-31:6, ROA ____; 32:19-34:1, ROA ____; 35:22-36:9, ROA ____; 40:2-21, ROA ____; 68-9:12, ROA ____). Mr. McLeod testified that after he explained to Mr. Justice the concepts behind the conservation easement, Mr. Justice told him, "Let's do it." (McLeod testimony, 652:25-654:10, ROA ____).

Based on the trial court's rulings, it is important to emphasize that Mr. Justice, individually, did not own the subject "Black River Farms" property in Clarendon County as it was owned by JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS, LLC, which is owned by JAMES C. JUSTICE COMPANIES, INC., of which Mr. Justice is the principal shareholder. (Adams testimony, 345:20-346:1, ROA ____); (Miller testimony, 7:18-8:2, ROA ____); (McLeod letter to Mr. Justice with Consulting Services Agreement, Nov. 26, 2007, Pl. trial ex. 7, ROA ____); (Hanlin e-mail, Nov. 7, 2007, Pl. trial ex. 3, ROA ____).

Mr. Hanlin, the lawyer for the transaction, finalized a Consulting Services Agreement to memorialize the agreement that identified "James C. Justice – Justice Family Farms, LLC" collectively as the "Owner" of the property. (Adams testimony, 142:13-24, ROA ____; 143:22-144:17, ROA ____; 322:7-13, ROA ____); (McLeod testimony, 490:19-494:14, ROA ____); (McLeod letter to Justice with Consulting Services Agreement, Nov. 26, 2007, Pl. trial ex. 7, ROA ____); (Hanlin e-mail, Nov. 7, 2007, Pl. trial ex. 3, ROA ____); (Hanlin letter, Dec. 5, 2007, Pl. trial ex. 10, ROA ____).

The parties proceeded in earnest to complete the easement in the 2007 tax year although the Consulting Services Agreement was never signed by a representative of JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS or Mr. Justice and no formal "closing" date had been set. (Adams

testimony, 145:3-12, ROA ____; 236:16-21, ROA ____; 307:10-308:4, ROA ____; 324:1-15, ROA ____); (McLeod testimony, 457:14-24, ROA ____; 494:1-495:3, ROA ____; 562:15-563:12, ROA ____; 569:17-570:7, ROA ____); (Hanlin e-mail, Nov. 7, 2007, Pl. trial ex. 3, ROA ____); (YES e-mail, Dec. 27, 2007, noting that COLT had approved the easement gift, Pl. trial ex. 34, ROA ____). To explain why JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS paid a prior invoice from one of Mr. McLeod's companies on an earlier project, its Rule 30(b)(6) designee, Mr. Miller, testified that:

16:22 Mr. Justice -- you have to understand,
16:23 he typically operates on a handshake with most of the
17:1 consultants and professionals that he deals with. He's
17:2 done many coal deals and land deals on a handshake and
17:3 this was one of those situations. He's very old-school
17:4 and his word is his bond and that's -- I've worked for
17:5 them for 27 years and that's the way he's always been.
17:6 That's the way his father was and that's the way his son
17:7 is. And that was -- **his arrangement with Mr. McLeod was**
17:8 **he had a handshake and that was good enough for him.** And
17:9 he knew at some point there would be an invoice submitted
17:10 and he would pay it and we would move on. (Emphasis added).

(Miller testimony, 16:22-17:10, ROA ____).

On behalf of JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS, Mr. Miller testified that Mr. Justice "was in agreement with the process moving forward towards establishing a conservation easement, so that we could have the tax advantages in the year 2007, by 12-31 of that year." (Miller testimony, 17:11-19:12, ROA ____). Mr. Miller testified it was JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS' understanding that the project was moving forward and the company was planning to use the deductions from the conservation easement as part of its "tax calculations for 2007" and that it was the company's "understanding that everything was on track." (Miller testimony, 20:7-18, ROA ____). Mr. Miller also testified that JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS

understood that Mr. Hanlin and the Law Firm had been “brought in to handle all the legal aspects of the entire conservation easement transaction” and that “Mr. Justice agreed to move forward with that.” (Miller testimony, 22:2-23, ROA ____). JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS was expecting to be advised when the documents were ready, to schedule a meeting, to sign the documents, to record the easement, to send the materials to their tax preparers for the 2007 returns, and to pay the stewardship fees and other associated professional fees, including the fees to YES. (Miller testimony, 30:4-31:6, ROA ____; 33:6-34:1, ROA ____). It was JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS’ “intent to move forward with this easement based on the information that we had, the proposed value of the property, and **it was our intent to have it done by the end of the year for tax advantage.**” (Miller testimony, 32:19-33:5, ROA ____) (emphasis added). The jury reasonably could have inferred that the reference to “our intent” was a reference to JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS’ and Mr. Justice’s intent.

On December 17, 2007, the IRS sent a letter to Mr. McLeod informing him of an investigation into YES, which was unrelated to the plans for the JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS easement. The IRS letter was e-mailed to Mr. Hanlin on the morning of December 20, 2007. (Adams testimony, 262:20-264:19, ROA ____); (McLeod testimony, 551:8-24, ROA ____); (Mohr e-mail, Dec. 20, 2007 with IRS letter, PI. trial ex. 23, ROA ____). Later in the day on Dec. 20, 2007, Mr. Hanlin called Mr. McLeod informing him that based on the IRS letter and investigation he had been directed by the Law Firm to terminate the client-lawyer relationship with YES on all matters, including the JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS matter. (McLeod testimony, 554:13-555:22, ROA ____); (Hanlin e-mail, Dec. 20, 2007, PI. trial ex. 24, ROA ____); (Hanlin letter, Dec. 21, 2007, PI. trial ex. 25, ROA ____).

Immediately after he hung up, Mr. McLeod turned to his office manager/sister and said,

Mary, Hal just told me that Richardson Plowden had terminated all relationships with me immediately. I don't have any choice but to call Jim Justice and recommend he postpone this project.

(McLeod testimony, 555:18-22, ROA ____). Given the immediacy of Mr. McLeod's reaction, it is obvious that the decision to recommend postponing the easement was "proximately caused" by Respondents' withdrawing as counsel for YES on the JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS easement. There was no other tax counsel involved.

Since December 20th was so close to the end of the tax year coupled with the fact that conservation easements are very complex legal matters, especially when using a \$45,000,000 wetlands mitigation value for the before-easement value, the jury heard testimony that it would have been a waste of time to try to obtain a lawyer to take Mr. Hanlin's place. (Mr. McLeod and Appellant's experts testified that no competent tax lawyer would have been available to take over the project because of the complexities of the JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS conservation easement project (or virtually any conservation easement) and because there were only ten (10) days left before the end of the 2007 tax year. (Elliott testimony, 387:14-390:14, ROA ____; 397:1-6, ROA ____; 398:24-399:15, ROA ____; 402:3-12, ROA ____); (McLeod testimony, 557:23-558:17, ROA ____).

Because Respondents had terminated the client-lawyer relationship abandoning the JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS conservation easement project leaving YES with no tax counsel and no hopes of finding replacement counsel for such a complicated matter in such a short time period, Mr. McLeod testified that he was left with no choice other than to recommend to Mr.

Justice that JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS not move forward with closing the easement in 2007. (McLeod testimony, 555:18-22, ROA ____). A conference call was arranged for Christmas Eve, December 24, 2007, between Mr. Justice, his local lawyer, Steven Ball, his CPA, Mr. Harrah, and Mr. McLeod, and Mr. Crosby Lewis, the lawyer Mr. McLeod had engaged to represent YES for the IRS investigation.

During the telephone conference, Mr. McLeod recommended to Mr. Justice that the easement on the JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS property be postponed based on the IRS investigation. (Miller testimony, 31:7-32:18, ROA ____). Mr. McLeod was too embarrassed to tell Mr. Justice that Mr. Hanlin and the Law Firm had abandoned the project and because Mr. McLeod has a kind personality and tendencies not to say "nasty" things about people. (McLeod testimony, 558:18-559:17, ROA ____; 559:23-560:11, ROA ____; 651:5-11, ROA ____; 654:2-655:14, ROA ____); (Adams testimony, 340:1-3, ROA ____). Mr. McLeod also testified that Mr. Justice had made it clear that while he had lots of advisers and lawyers and CPA's "that he didn't have anybody that knew anything about conservation easements." (McLeod testimony, 651:12-19, ROA ____; 652:7-18, ROA ____).

Mr. McLeod testified concerning later communications with Mr. Justice as follows:

638:18 I wanted to go
638:19 forward, of course, you know, I communicated with
638:20 Mr. Justice many times after 2007 encouraging him
638:21 to move forward and I would love for Jim Justice to
638:22 have picked up the phone and said, "Yancey, that
638:23 sounds great, let's meet at the farm and talk about
638:24 moving forward with the project." But when I say
638:25 in this email that the IRS matter caused us to
639:1 delay the conservation project, the truth is that
639:2 what caused us to delay the conservation project
639:3 was Hal Hanlin and Richardson Plowden quitting.
639:4 Q. That is not what you wrote, is it?
639:5 A. Well, I don't think that on October 2nd,

639:6 2008, if I had said in this email, "Oh, by the way,
639:7 I also want to tell you all that the reason that I
639:8 advised you all to postpone the project back in
639:9 December, 2007, was that Hal Hanlin and Richardson
639:10 Plowden quit," that wouldn't have been appropriate.
639:11 I was trying, you know, to be a gentleman and
639:12 professional about the whole thing, I didn't see at
639:13 the time, at the moment in time, keep in mind that
639:14 when Hal and Richardson Plowden quit they didn't
639:15 give me any advice whatsoever about how to go
639:16 forward and handle the matter, which was extremely
639:17 delicate. I mean, for all I knew Jim Justice was
639:18 going to jump all over me for failure to produce
639:19 the conservation easement that would have provided
639:20 a \$45,000,000 deduction and I was unable to do that
639:21 in good conscience at that time, so, no, I didn't
639:22 say anything about Hal Hanlin in this letter.

(McLeod testimony, 638:18-639:22, ROA ____).

Mr. McLeod testified that if Respondents had not withdrawn and remained as tax counsel, he would have recommended to Mr. Justice that they proceed with the JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS easement. (McLeod testimony, 560:12-20, ROA ____). Mr. McLeod testified that if Mr. Hanlin "hadn't quit I would have been perfectly willing to move forward with [the JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS easement], I knew I hadn't done anything wrong." *Id.* The JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS' designee, Mr. Miller, testified² that if Mr. McLeod had recommended they proceed with the conservation easement, notwithstanding the IRS investigation, they would have accepted his advice, closed on the easement by the end of 2007, taken the tax deduction, and paid YES the professional fees it would have earned. (Miller testimony, 30:14-31:6, ROA ____; 38:14-39:9, ROA ____); (Harrah memo to YES, Sept. 30, 2008, PI _____)

² This testimony was not admitted. The trial court sustained Respondents' objections to this testimony, notwithstanding Rules 701 and 803(3), SCORE. (Trial transcript, 796:1-820:1, ROA ____). See Appellant's discussion of the trial court's error in Argument II(B)(1) beginning on page 25.

trial ex. 38, ROA ____).

Testimony and evidence was presenting showing that Mr. Justice, through his company, JAMES C. JUSTICE COMPANIES, INC., partially performed on the unsigned Consulting Services Agreement when he issued a \$15,000 check to YES making specific reference to "JUSTICE FAMILY FARMS" on the Comment portion of the check. (JAMES C. JUSTICE COMPANIES, INC. check dated Nov. 13, 2008, Pl. trial ex. 41, ROA ____); (Miller testimony, 38:14-39:9, ROA ____); (McLeod testimony, 630:22-631:13, ROA ____).

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