THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No. 2012-212687
Lower Case No. 2010-CP-40-3297

YANCEY ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, LLCAppellant,

vs.

RICHARDSON PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A. and
GEORGE HAROLD HANLIN, J.D.Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Susan P. McWilliams (S.C. Bar No. 3918)
Tanya A. Gee (S.C. Bar No. 70191)
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
P.O. Drawer 2426
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-2426
Telephone: (803) 771-8900
Facsimile: (803) 253-8277

Burl F. Williams (SC Bar No. 77901)
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
55 E. Camperdown Way, Suite 400 (29601)

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

contract, YES and McLeod looked to Justice to make every decision regarding the proposed conservation easement. For that reason, YES was required to present the testimony of Justice as to what he would have done if YES had suggested that he consummate the proposed conservation easement, notwithstanding the IRS investigation.

The following trial testimony from various witnesses conclusively shows that Justice was the decision-maker.

1. McLeod's Testimony

McLeod acknowledged repeatedly during his testimony that every decision related to the conservation easement would ultimately be made by Justice:

Q: Isn't it also true with respect to the conservation easement that was proposed for the Black River Farm Mr. Justice had no obligation, even if he had signed one of your consulting agreements he had no obligation to do it, isn't that right?

A: Sure.

(R. p. 563, lines 16-22).

Q: So there is also a risk that he might at the very last minute just decide, "You know what, I don't want to do it"?

A: Absolutely, that would be a possibility.

Q: That would have been his right under this agreement, right?

A: Of course.

...

Q: Just as you didn't give any guarantee to Mr. Justice of what might be his actual charitable deduction, right?

A: Well, I wasn't expecting him to make the final decision to execute these documents and record it and place a permanent easement on his property without having some idea what the expected charitable gift would be.

(R. p. 564, lines 2-8; lines 12-19).

Q: All right. Oh, the closing date was December 31st?

A: Everything was to be done by December 31st in order for Mr. Justice to have the charitable gift in the calendar year 2007.

(R. p. 569, lines 12-16).

Q: And even up until the 12/31 this is a deal that just might not have gone forward, no matter what, whether Mr. Hanlin was involved or anybody else, right?

A: Well, that would have been his call for sure.

Q: It would have been Mr. Justice's call?

A: Right

(R. p. 575, line 25-p. 576, line 6).

Q: All right. And in any event, Mr. Justice would have to have input into those draft restrictions, right, or whatever restrictions you put in the easement, right?

A: Well, he would ultimately have to approve the document but I think he trusted me to put in the language on the reserve right to accomplish his stated objective of keeping it as a farm.

Q: You would have sent them to Mr. Justice for review?

A: Of course.

(R. p. 584, lines 5-15).

2. Miller's Testimony

James T. Miller, the Rule 30(b)(6) designee and treasurer for Justice Family Farms, LLC, testified at trial by videotaped deposition. (R. p. 881, lines 9-18). In his deposition he stated that he had worked for Justice for 27 years. (R. p. 892, lines 4-5). In unequivocal terms, Miller testified that Justice was the ultimate decision-maker:

Q: Mr. Justice, II, is the ultimate decision maker in these companies. Correct?

A: He's the majority owner, that's correct, and the ultimate decision maker.

Q: The buck stops with him, so to speak?

A: That's correct.

(R. p. 934, line 20-p. 935, line 2).

3. Harrah's Testimony

Harrah, the former in-house accountant to Justice, testified at trial. (R. p. 605, line 22-p. 606, line 2). Harrah was designated by Justice to oversee the work on the proposed conservation easement. (R. p. 608, lines 9-24). Throughout his questioning, he consistently referred to Justice as the person that would ultimately decide on matters pertaining to the proposed conservation easement. The following transcript citations from the trial make this very point.

Q: Mr. Pendarvis mentioned the December 24 phone call. Describe for the jury how Mr. Justice reacted when he was told that the easement was not going to go forward?

A: First of all I didn't recall that Mr. Justice was part of the phone call but I think my impression is – well, it is not my impression, it's the way it would be. If Jim wanted to go through and have this done by 12/31/2007 he would have done it regardless of what I thought, Mr. McLeod thought, if he thought that is what he wanted to do he would have done it.

Q: And tell the jury why you believe that about Mr. Justice.

A: Well, I mean, he's the guy that makes the decisions and whenever he sold his company he went completely opposite of the advice of Goldman Sachs and did it the way he wanted to do it. If he wants to do it he'll do it, that is just the way Jim [Mr. Justice] is.

(R. p. 639, line 10-p. 640, line 3).

THE WITNESS: I think, I guess the best thing that I can say in that regard is, you know, it was my understanding that these documents were being prepared to close on December 31, okay? If on December the 24 someone had come in like Mr. McLeod did and said, "I don't think I can in good conscience go forward with this," if he had said there were some other reason, "I physically can't do it, I have some kind of an issue," and Jim really wanted to do that he would have closed that transaction

BY MR. PENDARVIS:

Q. But up until that point it is your understanding Mr. Justice was continuing to proceed with this transaction?

A. Well, Mr. Justice saw the same documents that I did and knew the dating that was put in those documents but I don't know that we hadn't seen some of these, what the easement meant, what the restrictions meant in black and white, I guess, on that particular property, so that would be a decision that he would have made after he saw that and understood what that really meant to him.

(R. p. 635, line 17-p. 636, line 1; p. 636, lines 7-18).

Q. Now, when we, you were telling me back in your deposition in December that, and you testified that you understood that the goal was to finish this conservation easement by the end of 2007?

A. Well, what I said, the goal that Mr. McLeod was working on was to do that and for the various reasons that he had, I'm just not sure that, I'm not sure I understood that was a drop dead date for Jim [Mr. Justice].

(R. p. 631, line 20-p. 632, line 4).

4. Professor Greg Adams' Testimony

Professor Greg Adams ("Adams") testified as YES's expert witness regarding the professional duties owed by a lawyer. During his cross-examination, he agreed with all of the testimony detailed above:

Q: This property, you don't deny that the property involved was owned by Mr. Justice, correct, or some corporate entity?

A: One of his entities, right.

Q: But there is no denying that Mr. Justice was the final decision maker, right?

A: Of course.

(R. p. 268, line 20-p. 269, line 1).

The evidence introduced at trial established that Justice was the ultimate decision-maker with regard to the proposed conservation easement. Accordingly, YES was

required to affirmatively present evidence that, notwithstanding the IRS investigation, if McLeod had recommended proceeding with the conservation easement, Justice would have done so.

C. The Circuit Court's Ruling

At the close of all of the evidence, the Respondents renewed their Rule 50, SCRCP motion for a directed verdict. Following argument by counsel for the parties, the circuit court ruled from the bench. The court noted that:

I think I have wrestled with this whole thing since summary judgment motions but I don't believe, looking at the facts, there is a question of fact to submit to the jury about what Justice would have done or didn't do, I don't see it. I think his failure to present an affidavit, his failure to testify, present a deposition, as to what he would have done or wouldn't have done, it isn't here and that is breaking the causal link, the proximate cause to the breach, the damages. I can't tie it together and for that reason I'm going to grant the directed verdict.

(R. p. 869, line 20-p. 870, line 7).

After the circuit court ruled from the bench, it memorialized its ruling in a formal written Order. (R. pp. 5-14). In that Order the circuit court noted that, "YES's theory at trial was that if RPR and Hanlin had not withdrawn from representing it on December 20, 2007, it would have changed its recommendation to Justice during the telephone conference on December 24, 2007 from 'postpone' to 'proceed.'" (R. p. 11). The court noted that, "[b]ecause YES did not inform Justice of the fact of the defendants' withdrawal . . . , it is clear there is no direct evidence that the withdrawal caused Justice not to proceed." (R. p. 11). The court reasoned that only two explanations existed for why the proposed conservation easement did not close: (1) "it was either the disclosure of the IRS investigation," or (2) "the recommendation from McLeod that Justice postpone

the conservation easement.” (R. pp. 11- 12). Accordingly, the court correctly concluded that in order for YES to have presented a question of fact for the jury, it was required to “offer some scintilla of evidence that, had McLeod recommended that Justice proceed with the proposed conservation easement in the face of the IRS investigation, rather than postpone, Justice most probably would have done so in December of 2007.” (R. p. 12). From that line of reasoning, the circuit court correctly concluded that YES’s failure to present evidence regarding proximate cause—that is, what Justice would have done—required it to grant a directed verdict. (R. p. 12).

The record of this trial is silent as to what Justice’s decision would have been if he had received a recommendation from McLeod to proceed with the conservation easement, notwithstanding the IRS investigation. For that reason, the circuit court properly issued its Order granting a directed verdict.

D. Proximate Cause and the Standard of Proof

The central question in this appeal is whether YES presented a question of fact on the issue of proximate cause. South Carolina courts routinely decide issues of proximate cause, as a matter of law. *E.g., Harris Teeter, Inc. v. Moore & Van Allen, PLLC*, 390 S.C. 275, 288, 701 S.E.2d 742, 748-49 (2010) (affirming summary judgment and finding that legal malpractice claim failed “for lack of proximate cause”); *McKnight v. S.C. Dept. of Corrections*, 382 S.C. 380, 386-90, 684 S.E.2d 566, 568-71 (Ct. App. 2009). As noted above, YES’s Amended Complaint enumerated three claims: (1) professional negligence, (2) breach of fiduciary duty, and (3) breach of contract.

1. Professional Negligence

The professional negligence claim requires a showing of: (1) the breach of a duty by RPR and Hanlin; (2) damages to YES; and (3) that the breach **proximately caused** the

damages to YES. *Smith v. Haynsworth, Marion, McKay & Guerard*, 322 S.C. 433, 435 n.2, 472 S.E.2d 612, 613 n.2 (1996) (emphasis added).

2. **Breach of Fiduciary Duty**

In order to establish a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, a plaintiff must show: (1) the existence of a fiduciary duty; (2) a breach of that duty owed to YES by the Respondents; and (3) damages **proximately resulting** from the wrongful conduct of the Respondents. *RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams, LLP*, 399 S.C. 322, 335-36, 732 S.E.2d 166, 173 (Ct. App. 2012) (emphasis added). In South Carolina, in a legal malpractice action, a claim for breach of fiduciary duty arising out of the same facts is duplicative of the legal malpractice claim. *Id.* at 337, 732 S.E.2d at 173 (holding that where breach of fiduciary duty claim arises out of the same facts as legal malpractice claim, it is duplicative of legal malpractice claim).

3. **Breach of Contract**

A breach of contract claim requires a showing of: (1) the existence of the contract; (2) its breach; and (3) the damages caused by such breach. *Branch Builders, Inc. v. Coggins*, 386 S.C. 43, 48, 686 S.E.2d 200, 202 (Ct. App. 2009). “The general rule is that for a breach of contract the defendant is liable for whatever damages follow as a natural consequence and a **proximate result** of such breach.” *Id.* (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

4. **Proximate Cause**

The standard of proof for each of YES’s claims required it to affirmatively present evidence of proximate cause. “Ordinarily proximate cause is a question for the jury, but when the evidence is susceptible to only one inference, it becomes a matter of law for the court. *McKnight*, 385 S.C. at 387, 684 S.E.2d at 569. “Proximate cause is the

efficient or direct cause; the thing that brings about the complained of injuries.” *Id.* at 387, 684 S.E.2d at 569. Proximate cause requires both causation in fact and legal cause. *Id.* at 386-87, 684 S.E.2d at 569.

“Causation in fact is demonstrated by establishing the plaintiff’s injury would not have occurred ‘but for’ the defendant’s [conduct]” *McKnight*, 385 S.C. at 386-87, 684 S.E.2d at 569. YES was required to show that but for the withdrawal of the Respondents, McLeod would have recommended that Justice close on the proposed conservation easement **and** Justice would have closed on the conservation easement. In order to prove that Justice would have gone forward, YES was required to present the testimony of Justice. As the circuit court stated in its written Order granting a directed verdict, YES was required to show that, “had McLeod recommended that Justice proceed with the proposed conservation easement in the face of the IRS investigation, rather than postpone, Justice most probably would have done so in December of 2007.” (R. p. 12).

The circuit court correctly applied the law in directing a verdict for the Respondents on this issue. During the oral motion for reconsideration, the circuit court noted that the testimony showed “consistently [that] Jim Justice does exactly what Jim Justice wants to do or intends to do and there is nothing for me, before me from Jim Justice to say, ‘We would have done the deal.’ (R. p. 872, lines 9-12). The court continued, “I can’t figure out, I didn’t figure out why he wasn’t asked something or wasn’t provided, I can’t figure that out. That is not my problem, not my duty. But Justice never said what he would have done and I can’t get away from that” (R. p. 872, lines 12-17). The circuit court correctly determined that YES failed to prove that Respondents’ withdrawal proximately caused its alleged damages.

5. **Breach of Fiduciary Duty Does Not Have a Lessened Standard of Proof**

In an effort to avoid the proximate cause requirement, YES argues in its brief that a claim for breach of fiduciary duty has a lessened standard of proof—that is, that it did not need to present evidence of proximate cause on that claim. (Appellant’s Brief, at pp. 19-21). This issue was raised for the first time in Appellant’s Rule 59 motion to reconsider the Order granting a directed verdict. (R. pp. 990-1035). Accordingly, it is not preserved for appellate review. Issue preservation aside, it is not the law of this state.

i. **Issue Preservation**

A party may not use a post-trial motion to reconsider to raise an argument for the first time. *Kiawah Property Owners Group v. Public Service Comm’n of S.C.*, 359 S.C. 105, 113, 597 S.E.2d 145, 149 (2004). Rather, the party is required to raise the issue to the circuit court before it makes a ruling. See *Queens Grant II Horizontal Property Regime v. Greenwood Development Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 372, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). During trial, the Appellant had two opportunities to advance its theory that damages for breach of fiduciary duty contain a lessened standard of proof: (1) in opposition to the Respondents’ Rule 50 motion at the close of YES’s case-in-chief, and (2) in opposition to the Respondents’ Rule 50 motion at the close of all of the evidence. The Appellant did not advance this legal theory at the proper time.

In fact, during argument on the first Rule 50 motion, Appellant offered a different argument than the one advanced in its brief before this Court:

Now . . . the claims in the case deal[] with breach of fiduciary duty. . . . [And] when we looked at the, even the negligence case and even if the Court were to lump the b[reach] of fiduciary case into the professional negligence case, proximate cause has two components. There is a

causation in fact, that's but for, and there is a second cause, the legal cause, and the legal cause is for[e]seeability.

(R. p. 684, lines 15-24). During the argument on the second Rule 50 motion, the Appellant did not raise this issue. (R. p. 839, line 16-p. 869, line 14). The first time that the Appellant raised this issue was in its Rule 59, SCRCF motion to reconsider the Order granting a directed verdict. (R. pp. 990-1035). Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. *Kiawah Property*, 359 S.C. at 113, 597 S.E.2d at 149.

ii. **Appellant's Argument is Not the Law**

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